The Texas Medical Center Library DigitalCommons@TMC

Dissertations and Theses (Open Access)

MD Anderson UTHealth Houston Graduate School

5-2012

Regulation Of Net1A Subcellular Localization By The Small Gtpase Rac1

Christopher A. Morris

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu/utgsbs_dissertations

Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Morris, Christopher A., "Regulation Of Net1A Subcellular Localization By The Small Gtpase Rac1" (2012). *Dissertations and Theses (Open Access)*. 231. https://digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu/utgsbs_dissertations/231

This Thesis (MS) is brought to you for free and open access by the MD Anderson UTHealth Houston Graduate School at DigitalCommons@TMC. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations and Theses (Open Access) by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@TMC. For more information, please contact digcommons@library.tmc.edu.



REGULATION OF NET1A SUBCELLULAR LOCALIZATION

BY THE SMALL GTPASE RAC1

by

Christopher Anthony Morris, B.A.

APPROVED:

Jeffrey A. Frost, Ph.D., Supervisory Professor

Andrew Bean, Ph.D.

Carmen W. Dessauer, Ph.D.

Pierre D. McCrea, Ph.D.

Roger G. O'Neil, Ph.D.

APPROVED:

Dean, The University of Texas Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences at Houston

REGULATION OF NET1A SUBCELLULAR LOCALIZATION

BY THE SMALL GTPASE RAC1

А

THESIS

Presented to the Faculty of

The University of Texas

Health Science Center at Houston

and

The University of Texas

M. D. Anderson Cancer Center

Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

by

Christopher Anthony Morris, B.A.

Houston, Texas

May, 2012

Dedication of this thesis shall go to the three women who maintain residence on my back, my grandmother, Helen, my mother, Veronikia, and my daughter, Angelina.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I express my greatest appreciation to my mentor, Jeffrey Frost, and my current and past committee members, Andrew Bean, Russell Broaddus, Catherine Denicourt, Carmen Dessauer, David Loose, Pierre McCrea, and Roger O'Neil for their support and guidance. I also thank the Clark, Denicourt, and Dessauer Labs and the members of the Frost Lab, Heather Carr, Sarita Menon, Wonkyung Oh, and Yan Zuo for their continued support in the lab.

REGULATION OF NET1A SUBCELLULAR LOCALIZATION BY THE SMALL GTPASE RAC1 Publication No._____

Christopher A. Morris, B.A.

Advisor: Jeffrey A. Frost, Ph.D.

Activation of Rho family small G proteins is thought to be a critical event in breast cancer development and metastatic progression. Rho protein activation is stimulated by a family of enzymes known as guanine nucleotide exchange factors (Rho GEFs). The neuroepithelioma transforming gene 1 (Net1) is a Rho GEF specific for the RhoA subfamily that is overexpressed in primary breast tumors and breast cancer cell lines. Net1 isoform expression is also required for migration and invasion of breast cancer cells in vitro. These data indicate that Net1 may be a critical regulator of metastatic progression in breast cancer. Net1 activity is negatively regulated by sequestration in the nucleus, and relocalization of Net1 outside the nucleus is required to stimulate RhoA activation, actin cytoskeletal reorganization, and oncogenic transformation. However, regulatory mechanisms controlling the extranuclear localization of Net1 have not been identified. In this study, we have addressed the regulation of Net1A isoform localization by Rac1. Specifically, co-expression of constitutively active Rac1 with Net1A stimulates the relocalization of Net1A from the nucleus to the plasma membrane in breast cancer cells, and results in Net1A activation. Importantly, Net1A localization is also driven by endogenous Rac1 activity. Net1A relocalizes outside the nucleus in cells spreading on collagen, and when endogenous Rac1 expression was silenced by siRNA, Net1A remained nuclear in

v

spreading cells. These data indicate that Rac1 controls the localization of the Net1A isoform and suggests a physiological role for Net1A in breast cancer cell adhesion and motility.

| Approval Signatures | i |
|--|-----|
| Title Page | ii |
| Dedication | iii |
| Acknowledgements | iv |
| Abstract | v |
| Table of Contents | vii |
| List of Illustrations | ix |
| CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| Genes commonly associated with Breast Cancer Initiation and Progression | 1 |
| Rho GTPases and Cancer | 4 |
| Regulation of Rho GEF activity | 7 |
| The Rho GEF Net1 | 9 |
| Net1 and DNA damage | 11 |
| Net1 mediated signaling through RhoA | 12 |
| Regulation of Net1 activity | 13 |
| Ran dependent Nuclear Import and Export | 14 |
| Cellular Adherence to Extracellular Matrices and Cell Spreading | 15 |
| Constitutive activation of Rac1 stimulates Net1A extranuclear localization | 17 |
| CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS | 21 |
| Antibodies and cDNA constructs | |
| Cell culture and transfection | 21 |
| Recombinant protein expression | 22 |
| Net1 activity pulldowns | 23 |
| Rac1 activity assays | |

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Cell spreading assays | . 25 |
|--|------|
| Immunofluorescence microscopy | . 25 |
| CHAPTER 3: RESULTS | 26 |
| Constitutive activation of Rac1 stimulates Net1A activity | . 26 |
| Endogenous Rac1 controls Net1A localization | . 28 |
| Spreading on collagen IV stimulates Rac1 activity and Net1A relocalization | . 29 |
| Rac1 controls Net1A relocalization during cell spreading | . 33 |
| CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION | . 36 |
| CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS | 41 |
| References | . 43 |
| Vita | . 60 |

List of Illustrations

| Figure 1. | Rho GTPase activation cycle |
|-----------|---|
| Figure 2. | Net1 proteins 10 |
| Figure 3. | Co-expression of V ¹² Rac1 relocalizes Net1A outside the nucleus |
| Figure 4. | Co-expression of V ¹² Rac1 stimulates Net1A activation 2 |
| Figure 5. | Endogenous Rac1 controls extranuclear localization of Net1A 29 |
| Figure 6. | Replating MCF7 cells on collagen strongly activates endogenous Rac1 37 |
| Figure 7. | Relocalization of Net1A in cells spreading on collagen IV |
| Figure 8. | Net1A relocalization during cell spreading requires Rac1 expression 38 |

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Genes commonly associated with Breast Cancer Initiation and Progression

Breast cancer is the most widespread malignancy specific to women in the developed world and is the second leading cause of death, with approximately half a million fatalities worldwide per year (1, 2). This high death rate continues despite improvements in diagnostics and treatments. Breast cancer is a heterogeneous collection of diseases with diverse pathological factors, including aberrant hormone and growth factor regulation, genetic variations in key oncogenes and tumor suppressors, and altered cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesion. Metastatic progression is the cause of death in breast cancer, yet our understanding of the mechanisms controlling metastasis is not fully understood.

Heightened activity or expression of particular extracellular ligand receptors, including the hormone receptors (HR) estrogen receptor (ER) and progesterone receptor (PR), and the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) 2 (HER2/Neu), is recognized as a critical factor contributing to disease progression in human breast cancer. In fact, HR over-expression occurs in 70% of breast tumors, while HER2 positive (+) breast tumors can be detected in approximately 30% of patients (3-5). HR+ tumors are often more treatable and less aggressive compared to HR negative (-) tumors, which tend to exhibit greater metastatic spread and are not receptive to endocrine therapy (5).

Estrogen is important in the development of reproductive tissues in women and for multiple physiological functions in adults. For example, binding of ligand induces the ER to interact with estrogen response elements (ERE) in the promoters of estrogen responsive genes, and also recruits transcriptional co-activators to promote the transcription of these genes. ER activation also elicits non-genomic activation of

multiple signaling cascades, including the PKC, PKA, PI3K-Akt, and MAPK pathways (6, 7). In cancerous ER+ tissues, estrogen promotes vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and Transforming Growth Factor- β (TGF- β) secretion to stimulate carcinoma cell growth (6). Endocrine therapy approaches for ER+ tumors include ER antagonists or selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERM) (2). Tamoxifen is an ER antagonist that prevents the binding of estrogen to the ER, while aromatase inhibitors, such as Anastrozole, are SERMs that inhibit estrogen biosynthesis (2, 8).

HER2 is a proto-oncogene with relatively low expression in normal breast tissue that is inversely proportional to the expression levels of ER, and is down-regulated by estrogen (5). Binding of ligand to the HER2 causes it to dimerize with other EGFR family members, stimulating the MAPK, PI3K and PLC pathways (5, 9). Overexpression of HER2 in breast cancer correlates with an up-regulation of cyclin D1 expression, which is an essential regulator of G1/S phase progression in the cell cycle, promoting tumor cell growth (10). HER2+ tumors are generally sensitive to therapy using HER2-specific monoclonal antibodies, such as trastuzumab (5, 9, 10). However, recurrence of breast cancer in patients receiving anti-HER2 therapy indicates that additional treatment approaches are needed.

Tumor suppressor genes that have been shown to be mutated in breast cancer and to contribute to breast cancer risk include the *BRCA1/2* and *TP53* tumor suppressor genes (11). For example, inheritance of mutations in the *BRCA1* or *BRCA2* genes, which are responsible for DNA repair, significantly increases the risk of breast cancer (3, 12). *BRCA1* mutation-containing cancers typically lack ER, PR, and HER2 expression, and occur in only 5% to 10% of breast cancer cases. However, about 30% of sporadic breast cancers exhibit reduced BRCA1 mRNA and protein expression (3, 13). On the other hand, *TP53* gene mutations are the most common

genetic alteration in human cancer and have been detected in human breast tumors (14). The *TP53* gene regulates essential cellular processes such as DNA repair and apoptosis. Thus, p53 mutations typically allow a cancer cells to evade death in the presence of genetic imbalances or apoptotic stimuli (11).

Another hallmark of breast cancer is the process of epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), which involves the loss of cell polarity, cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesion, and an increase in cell motility (15, 16). Precursor tumor cells undergo EMT through aberrant regulation of adherens junctions (AJ), tight junctions (TJ), and integrin-extracellular matrix (ECM) adhesion. Studies have shown that dysregulation of AJs, such as the loss of E-cadherin expression, and TJs, such as dysregulation within the Partitioning defective (Par) complex, lead to breast cancer tumorigenesis in cells and in animal models which incorporate much of the diversity of human breast cancer (17-20).

Abnormal regulation of cell-matrix adhesions also promotes tumor invasive potential. Integrins constitute the major transmembrane receptor that binds to the ECM and have been implicated in tumor cell survival, invasion, migration, and anchorage at metastasis sites (21). For example, the alpha6-beta4 (α 6 β 4) and α 6 β 1 integrins promote tumor cell survival and motility, and the α 1 and α 2 integrins have been implicated in controlling the expression of the matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) MMP-3/stromelysin-1, promoting tumor cell invasion (21-24). The α 3 β 1 and $\alpha_v\beta$ 1 integrin dimers are also associated with tumor cell migration and invasion due to MMP-9 production (25, 26). However, the mechanisms underlying the dysregulation of cell adhesion in breast cancer are not fully understood.

Rho GTPases and Cancer

The Rho family of small GTPases contains 23 members and is part of the Ras superfamily of monomeric GTPases. Amongst the Rho GTPases, RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 are the most extensively characterized (27). Rho family small G proteins regulate many critical processes of cell physiology, including actin cytoskeletal organization, cell cycle progression, cell motility, gene expression, vesicle trafficking, cell polarity, proliferation, cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesion (28-31). Rho proteins act as molecular switches, cycling between inactive, GDP-bound, and active, GTP-bound states, and upon activation, Rho proteins interact with effector proteins to stimulate multiple cell signaling pathways (Figure 1) (27, 32). Rho protein activation is mediated by guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) that catalyze GDP release to facilitate GTP loading (33). GTPase activating proteins (GAPs) stimulate the intrinsic GTPase activity of Rho proteins to inactivate their function (34). Guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitors (GDIs) sequester GDP-bound Rho proteins into the cytoplasm (35).



Figure 1. Rho GTPase activation cycle. Rho GTPases cycle between inactive (GDP-bound) and active (GTP-bound) states. Intrinsic Rho GTPase activity is stimulated by Rho GAPs, down-regulating Rho GTPases. GDP-bound Rho GTPases are sequestered in the cytoplasm by GDIs. Rho GEFs catalyze GTP binding by Rho GTPases, stimulating their activation. Active Rho proteins interact with downstream effector (E) proteins to control many cellular processes, including cytoskeletal organization, cell cycle progression, gene expression, vesicle trafficking, cell polarity, proliferation, cell-cell, and cell-matrix adhesion.

Aberrant signaling, activation, or expression of Rho proteins can lead to increased proliferation, EMT, and transformation, and are critical for cancer cell motility and invasion (36-39). Overexpression of Rho proteins in human cancer seems to be a frequent occurrence. For example, over-expression of RhoA and RhoC has been observed in multiple human cancers, including breast cancer (40-43). Furthermore, because both RhoA and RhoC stimulate cell motility, enhanced RhoA or RhoC expression in breast tumors suggests that they may promote metastatic progression (44). However, the overexpressed Rho proteins are invariably wild type, meaning Rho GEFs and Rho GAPs still control their activation state.

There are more than 70 Rho GAPs and 70 Rho GEFs encoded by the human genome, which allows for pathway specific regulation of Rho activity (45, 46). Two distinct families of Rho GEFs up-regulate Rho GTPase activity, the canonical Dbl (diffuse B-cell lymphoma) family and the non-conventional DOCK (Dedicator of cytokinesis) or CZH (CDM [Ced-5, Dock180 and Myoblast city]-Zizimin homology) family of Rho GEFs. DOCK family Rho GEFs activate Rac and Cdc42 GTPases to control cell migration, morphogenesis, and phagocytosis, and contain conserved DHR2 (DOCK homology region 2) catalytic domains and conserved DHR1 domains Dbl family Rho GEFs contain conserved, tandem Dbl homology (DH) and (47). Pleckstrin homology (PH) domains (33, 47-49). The catalytic activity of Rho GEFs resides in the DH domain, while the PH domain stabilizes the DH domain-Rho protein interaction and has been observed to control binding of Rho GEFs such as Lbc (Lymphoid blast crisis), Lfc (Lbc's first cousin), and Dbs (Dbl's big sister) to phosphatidyl-inositol lipids (48, 50-53). Many canonical Rho GEFs, such as Dbl, Vav (sixth letter of the Hebrew alphabet), Neuroepithelioma Transforming Gene 1 (Net1), and Lfc, were first identified as oncogenes in NIH3T3 cell transformation assays. In all cases their transforming activity was dependent on their ability to stimulate Rho protein activation (49, 54-56). In addition, over-expression of Rho GEFs such as T-cell lymphoma invasion and metastasis-inducing protein 1 (Tiam1), leukemia-associated Rho GEF (LARG), and Net1 has been observed in human tumors (57-59). However, the requirement for particular Rho GEF activity in tumor development and progression has not been evaluated at length.

Regulation of Rho GEF activity

Regulatory mechanisms controlling Rho GEF activity have only been extensively studied for a few proteins. Almost all Rho GEFs display specificities for different Rho family small G proteins and can be regulated by post-translational modifications, such as phosphorylation, ubiquitylation, PDZ (PSD-95/Disc-large/ZO-1)domain protein interaction, and subcellular localization (33, 60-62).

For example, Tiam1 catalyzes nucleotide exchange specifically for Rac1, while the Rho GEF XPLN is specific for RhoA and RhoB, but not RhoC (63, 64). Moreover, Rho GEFs such as Vav, Dbl, FRG (FGD1 [faciogenital dysplasia gene product]-related Cdc42 GEF), Tiam1, and Epithelial cell transforming sequence 2 (Ect2) are positively regulated by phosphorylation (65-69). Dbl activity is enhanced by tyrosine phosphorylation by the tyrosine kinase, activated Cdc42 kinase 1 ACK1 (67). FRG is directly phosphorylated and activated by Src kinase, which underlies cell motility inhibition downstream of the endothelin A receptor (68). GEF phosphorylation can also coincide with particular phases of the cell cycle, as indicated by Ect2 upregulation by phosphorylation during the G2/M phase of the cell cycle (70). Furthermore, phosphorylation can be accompanied by lipid binding, as observed when Vav is activated by binding to phosphoinositide 3, 4, 5-phosphate (PIP₃) and by lymphocyte-specific protein tyrosine kinase (Lck)-mediated phosphorylation (65, 66, 71). In addition, phosphorylation can be induced by ligand stimulation. Exposure to the agonist lysophosphatidic acid (LPA), or increases in intracellular Ca²⁺, induce kinase C (PKC) and Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II protein phosphorylation of Tiam1, respectively, to increase its activity (69).

Rho GTPase activity can also be down-regulated by ubiquitin-stimulated degradation of Rho GEFs by the proteasome (72). For example, after mitosis, RhoA

activity is reduced by ubiquitin-mediated degradation of the Rho GEF Ect2 (73). Dbl is another Rho GEF that is ubiquitylated by the E3 ligase, CHIP (carboxyl terminus of HSC70-interacting protein) to target it for proteasome degradation (74). Additionally, the Cdc42 specific GEF, hPEM-2 (human homologue of the Ascidian protein Posterior End Mark-2), is ubiquitylated by the E3 ligase, Smurf1 in a Ca²⁺ independent manner, while Net1 has been found to be ubiquitylated following disengagement of E-cadherin (75, 76).

In addition, about 40% of Rho GEFs have a PDZ binding motif (PBM) that is predicted to mediate interaction with PDZ domain containing proteins. However, the PBM has only been shown to be functional for a few Rho GEFs (62). Proteins containing PDZ domains often act as scaffolds to promote specific cellular localization of signaling molecules and increased protein-protein interactions. PDZ-domain proteins also provide a mechanism for regulating Rho GEF subcellular targeting and activation. For example, the neuronal Rho GEF Kalirin-7 interacts with postsynaptic density protein 95 (PSD-95), targeting Kalirin-7 to the PSD to regulate dendritic morphogenesis through Rac1 signaling (77). Two other PDZ-domain proteins, Scribble and Shank, form complexes with the Rho GEF Pak-interacting exchange factor-beta (β -PIX) and localize β -PIX to pre-synaptic sites in neurons to promote exocytosis and dendritic protrusions, respectively (78, 79). Furthermore, the PDZdomain protein, synectin, binds to and recruits the RhoA-specific GEF, Syntaxin 1A (Syx1), to the plasma membrane, promoting local RhoA activation (80). Finally, Net1 (Net1A isoform) interaction with the PDZ-domain containing protein, Dlg1, prevents proteasome mediated degradation of Net1A to allow for maximal stimulation of RhoA activity (76, 81).

Lastly, subcellular localization is an important mechanism for controlling Rho GEF activity. For example, inactive Rho GTPases and most Rho GEFs are primarily localized in the cytosol. Upon activation, both the Rho proteins and their respective GEFs re-localize to the plasma membrane. However, two Rho GEFs, Ect2 and Net1, diverge from this regulatory paradigm and are localized to the nucleus at a steady state (70, 82). This represents a mechanism to downregulate their activity, as truncation of their respective N-termini relocalizes Ect2 and Net1 outside the nucleus to potentiate RhoA and RhoB activation (70, 82).

The Rho GEF Net1

Net1 is a Rho GEF specific for the RhoA subfamily (33, 60). Net1 was originally cloned from a human neuroepithelioma cDNA library in a screen for novel transforming genes using a focus formation assay in NIH3T3 fibroblasts (83). In this screen, a nonnaturally occurring 5' truncated form of Net1 (lacking the first 145 amino acids) was found to have transforming properties. NIH3T3 cells expressing this truncated form of Net1 exhibited increased proliferation, loss of contact inhibition, and anchorage independent growth in vitro, and were tumorigenic when injected into nude mice (83). The NET1 gene encodes a protein of 595 amino acids with tandem DH domain and PH domains, with 155 amino acid amino-terminal and 93 amino acid carboxyl-terminal regulatory domains (Figure 2) (60, 61, 83, 84). The presence of multiple nuclear localization signal (NLS) sequences in the N-terminal regulatory domain of Net1 targets it to the nucleus at steady state (61). The C-terminus of Net1 also contains a Type I PBM (X-S/T-X-V-COOH [X being any amino acid]) allowing for interaction with the PDZ domain containing proteins Dlg1 (Discs large gene 1) and Magi-1 (Membrane-associated guanylate kinase, WW and PDZ domain-containing protein 1)

(81, 85). Interaction with Dlg1 protects the Net1A isoform from proteasome mediated degradation (81, 86).



Figure 2. Net1 proteins. (A) Net1 is 595 amino acids in length. Net1 contains NLS sequences within the N-terminus, indicated by yellow boxes, followed by tandem DH and PH domains, illustrated by the red and blue boxes, respectively. The PBM sequence, ETLV, lies at the carboxyl terminal end of Net1. The splice variant, Net1A, is identical to Net1 except in the N-terminus. Specifically, Net1A lacks the first 85 amino acids of Net1 and contains a distinct 31 amino acid sequence, as denoted by the green box. Net1ΔN lacks the first 121 amino acids of Net1. (B) Amino acid sequence of the NLS sequences in Net1 and Net1A.

There are two Net1 isoforms that exist in most cells, Net1 and the splice variant Net1A. Expression of Net1 isoforms is controlled by alternative promoters within the *NET1* gene, which are inversely regulated by estradiol (59). The difference between the primary amino acid sequences of Net1 and Net1A lies within their unique amino-termini. The amino-terminus of Net1A lacks the first 85 amino acids of full length Net1 and has its own unique 31 amino acids (81). Net1 contains 4 putative NLS sequences, while Net1A only contains the NLS sequences corresponding to NLS3 and

NLS4 in Net1 (Figure 2). Net1 also contains a putative nuclear export signal (NES) within the PH domain, however, mutation of the NES in Net1 did not affect chromosomal region maintenance protein 1 (CRM1)-dependent export (61). Net1 NLS sequences allow for nuclear import of Net1 isoforms, and truncation of the N-terminal regulatory domain results in the oncogenic form known as Net1 Δ N. Net1 Δ N mainly localizes outside the nucleus to constitutively stimulate RhoA activity and actin stress fiber formation, indicating that localization of Net1 in the nucleus is a form of negative regulation (60, 61, 87). However, signaling mechanisms controlling the nuclear import or export of Net1 isoforms have yet to be identified.

Both Net1 isoforms are overexpressed in various cancers, including gastric, breast, ovarian, cervical, and pancreatic cancers (59, 88, 89). Moreover, Net1 isoform expression is necessary for migration and invasion of MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells and gastric adenocarcinoma cells (AGS) *in vitro*, suggesting that Net1 may be a critical regulator of metastatic progression in cancer (88). Furthermore, Net1 and integrin alpha6beta4 (α 6 β 4) co-expression in primary tumors of lymph node-positive breast cancer patients and Net1 overexpression in ER positive (ER⁺) breast tumors selects for high risk distant metastasis (59, 89). Thus, understanding regulatory mechanisms controlling Net1 activity may be important for discerning breast cancer metastasis.

Net1 and DNA damage

Net1 localizes to the nucleus, sequestered away from RhoA at the plasma membrane. This is thought to leave Net1 biologically inert. However, Net1-dependent RhoA localization and activation in the nucleus has been observed in response to DNA

damage (90, 91). This indicates that Net1 may have additional, non-classical nuclear functions that are not well appreciated. However, the exact role of Net1 in DNA damage responses is still unclear. For example, it has been shown that Net1 expression is required for activation of the p38 Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase (MAPK)-MAPKAP2 signaling pathway after exposure to genotoxic agents such as ionizing radiation (IR), which promotes survival in HeLa cells (91, 92). On the other hand, in MCF7 breast cancer cells IR-stimulated DNA damage causes Net1- and Ect2dependent RhoB activation, which inhibits cell survival (93). Thus, the role of Net1 in DNA damage signaling may be cell type specific.

Net1 mediated signaling through RhoA

RhoA activation induces various downstream signal transduction pathways that control actin cytoskeletal rearrangement, transformation, adhesion, and gene expression. For example, TGF-β stimulates Smad activity, which enhances Net1 expression, leading to increased Rho activity and actin stress fiber formation (84, 94). Net1 dependent activation of downstream stress fiber formation is down-regulated by co-expression with the scaffold protein Connector Enhancer of Kinase Suppressor of Ras 1 (CNK1) (87, 95). Importantly, CNK1 co-expression causes Net1 to stimulate RhoA-dependent SAPK/JNK pathway activation. These findings indicate that signaling downstream of Net1 is regulated by associated proteins (60, 95). Net1 also has the ability to induce SAPK/JNK activation independently of the generation of titratable GTP-bound RhoA (60). Moreover, the PBM of Net1 is not required for RhoA dependent cytoskeletal effects, but is necessary for cellular transformation (87). On the other hand, Net1ΔN interaction with Dlg1 reduces the transformation potential of

oncogenic Net1 (81). Altogether, this indicates that Net1 activity is differentially regulated towards RhoA and transformation.

Regulation of Net1 activity

Net1 activity is regulated by phosphorylation, ubiquitylation, and subcellular localization (61, 76, 81, 87, 96). Additionally, TGF-β inhibits Net1 expression by the microRNA miR-24 (94). The exchange activity of Net1 and its ability to stimulate stress fiber formation is reduced by phosphorylation of serines 152 and 153 (S152, S153) by p21 Activated Kinase 1 (PAK1) in response to Rac1 activation (96). Disruption of E-cadherin engagement leads to decreased Net1A and Dlg1 interaction and subsequent Net1A ubiquitylation, thus indicating enhancement of Net1A stability in response to cell-cell contact (76). Increased Net1A stability correlates with increased interaction with Dlg1 and relocalization of Net1A/Dlg1 complexes to the subnuclear structures, the promyelocytic leukemia protein (PML) bodies (76, 81). This indicates Net1A association with Dlg1 which protects Net1A from ubiquitin-mediated degradation and this interaction is regulated by cell-cell contact (76). Lastly, downregulation of Net1 activity also occurs through nuclear sequestration (61, 87). Deletion mutants of Net1, containing various NLS aberrations or N-terminus abnormalities, exhibit cytoplasmic localization, indicative that the N-terminus of Net1 regulates subcellular localization through these NLS sequences. Extranuclear localization of Net1 isoforms is required for RhoA activation and stress fiber formation. However, stimuli that cause increased nuclear export or decreased nuclear import of Net1 isoforms, thereby relocalizing Net1 outside the nucleus, have not been described.

Ran dependent Nuclear Import and Export

Nuclear import and export are typically regulated by families of binding proteins known as importins and exportins, which function as chaperones to mediate transit through the nuclear pore. Importins are classified as karyopherins (97). Karyopherins have two subunits, importin α and importin β , of which there are six importin α subunits in humans, namely KPNA1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6. Importin α binds to the NLS of a protein to be imported into the nucleus, while importin β binds to importin α and mediates docking to the nuclear pore complex (NPC) and translocation through the pore. The importin β subunit can also bind to a NLS protein without the aid of an importin α subunit. The importin/NLS complex binds the GDP-bound Ras family GTPase, Ran (Ras-related nuclear protein). Together, this complex moves through the nuclear pore by forming contacts with nucleoporins. Once inside the nucleus, GDP-Ran interacts with chromatin bound RCC1 (a Ran GEF), which causes GTP binding. GTP-bound Ran triggers a conformational change of importin β to catalyze release of the NLS containing protein from importin α (98, 99). Cargo that needs to be exported outside the nucleus utilizes exportins. There are seven exportins in humans, respectively named CRM1 (Chromosome region maintenance protein 1) (XPO1), CAS (Cellular Apoptosis Susceptibility Protein) (XPO2), XPO T (XPO3), XPO4, XPO5, XPO6, and XPO7. Of these, CAS controls the nuclear export of importins after they shuttle cargo into the nucleus and XPOT mediates the nuclear export of tRNAs (98, 99). A consensus NES has only been defined for CRM1. Exportins bind to the NES of a protein to form a ternary complex with RanGTP. Upon translocation through the nuclear pore, cytoplasmic RanGAP1 stimulates GTP hydrolysis by Ran, causing complex dissociation and the release of the exported cargo into the cytoplasm (98,

99).

Cellular Adherence to Extracellular Matrices and Cell Spreading

Adhesion of cells to the ECM provides structural support for cells and is critical for tissue development and homeostasis. ECM binding also mediates activation of multiple signaling pathways to regulate cellular behavior. The ECM is comprised of an interlocking mesh of assorted fibrous proteins and proteoglycans, such as heparan sulfate, elastins, fibronectins, laminins, and collagens, of which collagen is the most abundant (100-102). Cells bind to the ECM through different cell surface receptors, including syndecans and integrins. The major receptors for cell adhesion to the ECM are integrins (103). Integrins are heterodimeric transmembrane receptors composed of single α and β chains. There are 18 α and 8 β subunits in mammals, which assemble into 24 distinct integrin complexes, allowing for specificity in ECM component binding and intracellular signaling (103). For example, while integrins α 1 β 1 and α 2 β 1 both bind collagen I and IV, α 2 β 1 preferentially interacts with collagen I while $\alpha 1\beta 1$ has a higher affinity for collagen IV (104-106). Integrins behave as bidirectional signal transducers, transmitting signals from the inside of the cell to the outside through cytoplasmic binding to cytoskeletal adaptor proteins, or from the ECM to the inside of the cell through extracellular ligand binding (103).

Following initial adherence to an ECM, cells begin to flatten and spread out. During this process, signaling events are triggered by integrin engagement. Prior to ECM binding, the protein Talin binds to the β subunit of the integrin dimer, inducing a conformational change in an integrin receptor that allows for binding to the ECM. Following binding of the integrin heterodimer to the ECM the focal adhesion kinase (FAK) is recruited. Clustering of multiple ECM-bound integrins allows for the transphosphorylation of FAK molecules on tyrosine 397, which creates a binding site for the

tyrosine kinase Src (107, 108). Src binding leads to further tyrosine phosphorylation of FAK as well as increased Src phosphorylation, maximizing the kinase activity of the FAK-Src complex (109). This FAK-Src complex recruits and activates scaffolding and adaptor proteins, such as p130Cas and paxillin. These proteins recruit additional signaling molecules to initiate cell signaling. Among these events, activation of the Rho family proteins Rac1 and Cdc42 is crucial. Their activation is mediated by binding to the Rac1 and Cdc42 exchange factors, the unconventional GEF Dock180-engulfment and motility 1 (ELMO1) complex and β -PIX, which stimulate Rac1 and Cdc42 activation to promote membrane protrusion (110-112). Once activated, Cdc42 and Rac1 promote the extension of filopodia and lamellipodia that allow for early cell spreading. Rac1 stimulation also induces reactive oxygen species production, which inhibits tyrosine phosphatase activity toward p190RhoGAP, thereby activating p190RhoGAP and inhibiting RhoA activity. This diminishes actomyosin contractility in the spreading edge of the cell (113-116).

In the later stages of spreading, 60 to 90 minutes following adhesion, Rac1 and Cdc42 activities decrease and RhoA activity steadily increases, driving maturation of focal complexes (FC) to focal adhesions (FA), promoting the formation of actin stress fibers. This provides cellular anchorage to the ECM and enhances actomyosin contraction (113, 114, 117, 118). RhoA activation also stimulates Rho-associated protein kinase (ROCK)-mediated phosphorylation of the Rac1 GAP FilGAP, thereby down-regulating Rac1 activity (117, 118). In fibroblasts the increase in RhoA activity at later stages of cell spreading has been shown to require the actions of the Rho GEFs LARG, p115RhoGEF (Lsc), and p190RhoGEF (119, 120). However it is not clear how the activity of these Rho GEFs are coordinated during cell spreading, nor is it known why multiple RhoA directed GEFs are required for efficient spreading. Also,

most of these studies have been conducted in mouse fibroblasts. It is possible that different Rho GEFs may be operative in human breast cancer cells.

Constitutive activation of Rac1 stimulates Net1A extranuclear localization

Previous work in the Frost lab was directed at screening upstream regulators and downstream effectors of Rho proteins to identify factors that would cause relocalization of Net1 isoforms from the nucleus. From these efforts, the lab found that co-expression of constitutively active Rac1 (V¹²Rac1) caused a dramatic relocalization of Net1A outside the nucleus in transfected MCF7 breast cancer cells. As shown in Figures 3A and 3B, when transfected alone, Net1 and Net1A localized outside of the nucleus in approximately 15% and 25% of transfected cells, respectively (61, 87, 96). However, co-expression of V¹²Rac1 robustly increased the percent of transfected cells with extranuclear Net1A to more than 80% of cells. This considerable effect, however, was not observed when V12Rac1 was co-expressed with Net1, suggesting that the localization of Net1 and Net1A are regulated differently. Furthermore, using subcellular fractionation followed by Western blotting, the localization of HA-tagged Net1A in the membrane fraction was significantly increased by co-expression of Myc-tagged V¹²Rac1, indicating that Net1A was re-localized to the membrane (Figure 3C).



Figure 3. Co-expression of V¹²Rac1 relocalizes Net1A outside the nucleus. (A) MCF7 cells were transfected with HA-Net1 or HA-Net1A, plus control vector or Myc-V¹²Rac1, and processed for immunofluorescence by using anti-HA antibodies (green), anti-Myc antibodies (red), and DAPI (stains DNA, blue). A representative panel for each transfection is shown. The constructs used for each condition are indicated to the left of each panel. (B) Quantification of extranuclear Net1 isoform localization. At least 100 cells were counted for each condition. Significance was estimated by Student's *t* test for non-paired values. Error bars represent standard error of the mean. * = P < 0.002. (C) Cells were transfected with HA-Net1A alone or with Myc-V¹²Rac1 and processed for subcellular fractionation. Proteins within each fraction were analyzed by Western blotting using the indicated antibodies. Results of a representative experiment are shown (Frost Lab, data not published).

Since V¹²Rac1 co-expression relocalized Net1A outside the nucleus, the Frost Lab also tested whether the related Rho GTPase Cdc42 also caused Net1A relocalization in transfected MCF7 cells. In these experiments, Net1A localization was tested only one day after transfection, as expression of constitutively active Cdc42 (V¹²Cdc42) was toxic to MCF7 cells after longer periods of time (data not shown). In these assays, it was found that co-expression of V¹²Rac1 caused extranuclear localization of Net1A in approximately 60% of the cells while V^{12} Cdc42 only caused 30% of the cells to exhibit extranuclear Net1A (data not shown), suggesting that V^{12} Rac1 is more effective than V^{12} Cdc42 for stimulating Net1A relocalization outside the nucleus.

The Frost Lab also determined what aspects of Net1A function were required for Rac1-stimulated relocalization. For these assays the following Net1A mutants were tested: catalytically inactive Net1A (L267E, L/E); the PH domain mutant (W438L, W/L) (60), and the deletion mutant Net1A 1-307, which lacks the PH domain and the C-terminal regulatory domain (Figure 2). Immunofluorescence analysis showed that each Net1A mutant efficiently relocalized outside the nucleus when co-expressed with V¹²Rac1. Co-expression of wild type Net1A, Net1A L/E, and Net1A W/L with V¹²Rac1 caused approximately 70% of the cells to contain extranuclear Net1A. Rac1 was slightly less efficient at causing re-localization of Net1A 1-307, with only 60% of the cells exhibiting extranuclear Net1A localization (data not shown). Taken together, these results demonstrate that the catalytic activity, potential phosphatidyl-inositol binding ability, and C-terminal sequences within Net1A are not necessary for stimulation of its relocalization outside the nucleus by V¹²Rac1.

Extranuclear localization of Net1 is required for RhoA activation, actin cytoskeletal reorganization, and oncogenic transformation. However, regulatory mechanisms controlling the import or export of Net1 have not been identified. It has been determined that the relocalization of Net1A from the nucleus to the plasma membrane in breast cancer cells is regulated downstream of constitutively activation of Rac1. Through the current study, we established that Rac1 expression and activation are necessary for Net1A relocalization during cell spreading. These results suggest that Net1 isoforms are regulated differently and that Rac1-mediated relocalization of

Net1A may be a significant determinant of the ability of cells to adhere to an ECM and for cell motility.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

Antibodies and cDNA constructs

The following antibodies were used: anti-Rac1, anti-Cdc42, and anti-paxillin (BD Biosciences); anti-GAPDH, anti-glutathione S-transferase (GST), anti-Net1, anti-HA, anti-SOD1, and anti-Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase (Santa Cruz); anti-RhoA (Cytoskeleton); anti-H3 and anti-phosphoFAK (Y397) (Cell Signaling); anti-Myc epitope (AbCam); and anti- α -tubulin (Sigma). Primary antibodies used for Western blotting were detected with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (Kirkegaard & Perry Laboratories) via enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL). For immunofluorescence microscopy, Cy2- and Cy3- conjugated anti-mouse and anti-rabbit secondary antibodies were from Jackson ImmunoResearch. TRITC-phalloidin and 4', 6diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) were from Sigma. Alexa 647-phalloidin was from Wild type and constitutively active V¹²Rac1 and V¹²Cdc42 were in Invitrogen. pCMV5M, as described (96). Mouse Net1, Net1A and their respective mutants were in pEF_{HA} (87). DNA sequencing was used to verify all constructs.

Cell culture and transfection

MCF7 cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (Sigma) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Sigma) and antibiotics (100 units/mL penicillin-streptomycin) (HyClone). MCF7 cells were transfected with cDNA expression vectors using Lipofectamine/Plus (Invitrogen) following the manufacturer's instructions. Cells were assayed 48 h after transfection.

Small interfering RNAs (siRNA) against human Rac1 were from Sigma. Rac1 siRNA sequences were as follows: Rac1-1 sense, 5'-

AAGGAGAUUGGUGCUGUAAAAUU-3', 5'and antisense, UUUUACAGCACCAAUCUCCUU-3': 5'and Rac1-2 sense. AACCUUUGUACGCUUUGCUCAUU-3', and antisense, 5'-UGAGCAAAGCGUACAAAGGUUUU-3'. The **RNA** sequences, sense, 5'-5'-GAUCAUACGUGCGAUCAGAUU-3', and antisense, UCUGAUCGCACGUAUGAUCUU-3', was used as a non-targeting control (Sigma). MCF7 cells were transfected with siRNAs using the INTERFERin transfection reagent (Polyplus) according to manufacturer's instructions. Cells were assayed 96 h after transfection with Rac1 siRNA.

Recombinant protein expression

V17A-RhoA (RhoA(17A)) in pGEX-KG was created by PCR-mediated mutagenesis and verified by DNA sequencing. GST- or GST-RhoA17A proteins were purified as previously described (121). Briefly, BL21(DE3) *E. coli* transformed with pGEX-KG or pGEX-KG/RhoA(17A) were cultured to $O.D_{.600} = 0.8$ and GST protein expression was induced for 12 to 16 h at room temperature following the addition of 50 μ M IPTG (isopropyl- β -D-thiogalactopyranoside). Bacterial cells were collected by centrifugation (6,000 x g), lysed in buffer containing 20 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM MgCl₂, 1% Triton X-100, 1 mM DTT, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), and 10 μ g/ml each of aprotinin, leupeptin, and pepstatin A, and insoluble material was pelleted by centrifugation (20,000 x *g*, 30 minutes, 4°C). GST or GST-RhoA17A in the soluble fraction was purified by incubation with glutathione-agarose beads (Sigma) for 1 h at 4°C, followed by two washes with lysis buffer and two washes with lysis buffer lacking Triton X-100 and protease inhibitors. Protein purity was

assessed by Coomassie staining and concentrations were tested by BCA assay (Pierce). Proteins were left attached to the beads and frozen in aliquots.

Rac1 activity was measured by pulldown assay using the p21-binding domain (PBD) of Pak1 cloned into pGEX-2T, a kind gift from Catherine Denicourt (UT-Houston). Prokaryotic expression of the pGEX-2T/PBD construct was performed as described (122). Briefly, BL21(DE3) E. coli transformed with pGEX-2T/PBD were grown to $O.D_{.600} = 0.8$ and expression of the GST or GST-PBD fusion proteins in was induced with 400 µM IPTG for 3 h at 30°C. Bacterial cells were pelleted by centrifugation (6,000 x g) and re-suspended in buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT, 1 mM PMSF, 1 mg/ml lysozyme (Fisher), and 10 µg/ml each of aprotinin, leupeptin, and pepstatin A. After sonication, insoluble material was pelleted by centrifugation (12,000 x q, 10 min, 4° C), and soluble proteins were incubated with glutathione-agarose beads for 1 h at 4°C followed by three washes using buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCI pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM DTT, 1 mM PMSF, and 10 µg/ml each of aprotinin, leupeptin, and pepstatin A. Protein purity was assessed by Coomassie staining and concentrations were tested by BCA assay. Proteins were left attached to the beads and frozen in aliquots.

Net1 activity pulldowns

Active Net1 pulldown experiments were performed as described (121). Briefly, cells were lysed in lysis buffer (20 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM MgCl₂, 1% Triton X-100, 1 mM DTT, 1 mM PMSF, and 10 μ g/ml each of aprotinin, leupeptin, and pepstatin A), sonicated for 30 s, and clarified by centrifugation (13,000 x *g*, 5 min,

4°C). Lysates concentrations were determined by BCA assay and equal amounts of lysate were mixed for 1 h at 4°C with 20 μg of GST or GST-RhoA17A beads. Beads were pelleted by centrifugation and washed 3 x in lysis buffer, resuspended in 25 μl sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) sample buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 100 mM DTT, 2% SDS, 0.02% bromophenol blue, and 10% glycerol), boiled for 5 min, and separated by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE). Proteins were transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane (GE, Millipore) and immunoblotted with the indicated antibodies.

Rac1 activity assays

Active Rac1 pulldown experiments were performed as described (122). Briefly, suspended and adherent cells were lysed in buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 200 mM NaCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 1% NP-40, 5% glycerol, 1 mM PMSF, and 10 μ g/ml each of aprotinin, leupeptin, and pepstatin A and incubated on ice for 5 min. Insoluble material was pelleted by centrifugation (13,000 × *g*, 10 min, 4°C). Lysate concentrations were determined by BCA assay and equal amounts were incubated with GST or GST-PBD beads for 1 h at 4°C. The beads were pelleted and washed 3 times in wash buffer (25 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 40 mM NaCl, 30 mM MgCl₂, 1% NP-40, 1 mM DTT, 1 mM PMSF, and 10 μ g/ml each of aprotinin, leupeptin, and pepstatin A), followed by two washes with wash buffer lacking NP-40. Lysates were subsequently prepared for SDS-PAGE, transferred to PVDF membrane and immunoblotted for Rac1 and GST proteins.

Cell spreading assays

Cells were trypsinized (HyClone), washed three times with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), and resuspended in 0.5% de-lipidated bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma) in DMEM for 1 h at 37°C. Cells were then replated on tissue culture dishes or glass coverslips previously coated with collagen IV (10 μ g/ml) (BD Biosciences). Coverslips or tissue cultures dishes were coated with Collagen IV diluted in PBS for 1 hr at room temperature then washed with PBS and stored at 4°C until ready for use. Cells were harvested at the appropriate times for biochemical or microscopic analysis.

Immunofluorescence microscopy

Cells grown on collagen IV coated coverslips were washed in PBS and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 10 min at 37°C. Cells were permeabilized with 0.2% Triton X-100 in PBS for 5 min at room temperature. Coverslips were then washed in PBS plus 0.1% Tween 20 (PBST), followed by blocking with 1% BSA in PBST for 30 min. Cells were incubated with primary antibodies diluted to 1-3 µg/ml in PBST + 1% BSA for 1 h at 37°C. Coverslips were washed 3 x in PBST for 5 min and incubated with secondary antibodies diluted to 0.5-2 µg/ml in PBST + 1% BSA for 1 h at 37°C. Coverslips were washed and mounted on slides with FluorSave Reagent (Calbiochem). Epifluorescence images were captured with a Zeiss Axioskop microscope equipped with a Zeiss AxioCam MRm MC100 SPOT digital camera and AxioVision software. For quantitative analysis, images were serially acquired with the same illumination and exposure parameters, and the average fluorescence intensity in regions of interest for each transfected cell was performed using Image J software.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

Constitutive activation of Rac1 stimulates Net1A activity

Net1 activity towards RhoA is inhibited by nuclear sequestration (82, 87). Because co-expression of V¹²Rac1 with Net1A causes its relocalization outside the nucleus, we examined whether this also resulted in an increase in the catalytic activity of Net1A. MCF7 breast cancer cells were transfected with expression plasmids for HA-Net1, HA-Net1A, or HA-Net1ΔN alone or with Myc-V¹²Rac1. After two days the cells were harvested and equal amounts of lysate were incubated with recombinant GST-RhoA(17A) bound to glutathione-agarose. GST-RhoA(17A) is a nucleotide-free RhoA mutant that binds tightly to active Rho GEFs (121). After incubation, GST-RhoA(17A) complexes were pelleted by centrifugation, washed, and resolved by SDS-PAGE. The presence of HA-tagged Net1 proteins in these complexes was then assessed by Western blotting. Net1 activity was calculated by dividing the level of Net1 in the GST-RhoA(17A) pulldowns by the amount of Net1 in the lysate, normalized to the amount of GST-RhoA(17A) used in the pulldown (GST-RhoA(17A) bound Net1 / total Net1 in lysate / GST-RhoA(17A) in pulldown).

As shown in Figure 4, both HA-Net1 and HA-Net1 Δ N displayed a high level of activity in MCF7 cells irrespective of whether V¹²Rac1 was co-expressed. This was expected for Net1 Δ N, as it has been reported previously to function as a constitutively active form of Net1 in other cell types (60, 82). Similarly, Net1 has been reported to be constitutively active (87, 91). On the other hand, HA-Net1A expressed alone in MCF7 cells displayed very little activity. However, co-expression of V¹²Rac1 strongly activated Net1A, increasing its ability to bind to GST-RhoA(17A) by nearly three-fold. Interestingly, co-expression of V¹²Rac1 also increased the expression of each Net1

isoform. Since Net1A has been observed previously to be targeted for proteasomemediated degradation (76), this may indicate that co-expression of V¹²Rac1 stabilizes Net1 proteins in general. In this regard, others in the Frost Lab have observed that coexpression of V¹²Rac1 significantly increases the half-life of transfected HA-Net1A (data not shown). Importantly, our method for quantifying Net1 isoform activity included normalization for Net1 expression, indicating that increases in Net1A activity caused by V¹²Rac1 co-expression cannot be discounted due to altered Net1A expression. Taken together, these data indicate that co-expression of constitutively active Rac1 strongly stimulates the activity of Net1A, but not Net1, similar to its effects on the extranuclear localization of Net1 isoforms.



Figure 4. Co-expression of V¹²Rac1 stimulates Net1A activation. (A) Cells were transfected with HA-Net1, HA-Net1A, or HA-Net1ΔN, alone or with Myc-V¹²Rac1, as indicated. Equal amounts of lysate from each population of cells were incubated with glutathione-agarose-bound GST-RhoA(17A). Binding of Net1 proteins to GST-RhoA(17A) was analyzed by Western blotting (top panel). Expression of HA-Net1 proteins and Myc-V¹²Rac1 in the lysates is shown in the bottom panels. Results of a representative experiment are shown. (B) Quantification of Net1 isoform activity. Active Net1 was defined as the amount of HA-Net1 protein in the GST-RhoA(17A) pulldown divided by that in the lysate, and values were adjusted according to the amount of GST-RhoA(17A) in the pulldowns. Data were then normalized to the level of activity exhibited to HA-Net1 transfected alone. The results from 6 independent experiments are shown. Significance was determined by Student's *t* test for non-paired values. * = p < 0.005.

Endogenous Rac1 controls Net1A localization

When over-expressed alone, approximately 25% of the HA-Net1A transfected cells exhibited extranuclear localization of Net1A (Figure 1B). This begged the question of whether endogenous Rac1 activation accounts for the extranuclear localization of Net1A in these cells. To test this idea, MCF7 cells were transfected with non-targeting (control) or Rac1-specific siRNAs. Two days later, the cells were transfected with an HA-Net1A expression vector. Two days after that the cells were fixed and stained for HA-Net1A localization. As shown in Figure 5A, inhibition of Rac1 expression drastically reduced the extranuclear localization of HA-Net1A. Quantification of these results showed that inhibition of Rac1 expression decreased the number of cells exhibiting extranuclear localization of Net1A from nearly 30% to 10%. These effects were consistent using two siRNAs targeting distinct sequences within human Rac1, both of which strongly inhibited Rac1 expression (Figure 5C). These data indicate that basal activation of endogenous Rac1 in MCF7 cells drives the extranuclear localization of transfected Net1A, and support the notion that Net1A relocalization stimulated by exogenously expressed V¹²Rac1 reflects a valid physiological mechanism controlling Net1A localization.



Figure 5. Endogenous Rac1 controls extranuclear localization of Net1A. Cells were transfected with non-targeting control or Rac1-specific siRNAs. Two days later, the cells were re-transfected with an expression vector for HA-Net1A. Two days after that, the cells were fixed and stained for HA-Net1A localization. (A) Representative panels showing HA-Net1A localization (green) in control and Rac1 siRNA transfected cells. DNA is stained blue and F-actin is stained red. (B) Quantification of HA-Net1A localization in control and Rac1 siRNA transfected cells. Shown is the average of three independent experiments. Significance was determined by Student's *t* test for non-paired values. * = p < 0.0002. (C) Representative Western blot confirming inhibition of Rac1 expression.

Spreading on collagen IV stimulates Rac1 activity and Net1A relocalization

Our data shows that expression of constitutively active Rac1 causes Net1A relocalization outside the nucleus and results in Net1A activation. Thus, we wanted to test whether stimuli that are known to activate endogenous Rac1 also regulated Net1A localization in MCF7 cells. To test this, we examined whether cell spreading after trypsinization caused Rac1 dependent Net1A relocalization, since this process is known to strongly activate Rac1 in other cells types (110-112). To determine whether replating of MCF7 cells on collagen stimulated endogenous Rac1 activation, actively growing cells at 80% confluency were trypsinized and replated on dishes coated with collagen IV. At different times the cells were lysed and tested for Rac1 activation

using a conventional pulldown assay (122). In this assay, cell lysates are incubated with the recombinant Rac1 binding domain from Pak1 fused to GST (GST-PBD). Since only active Rac1 binds to this domain, the amount of Rac1 bound is directly proportional to the degree of Rac1 activation. Rac1 activation can be detected by Western blot, and is quantified by dividing the amount of Rac1 in the pulldowns by the amount of Rac1 in the lysate, normalized to the amount of GST-PBD used in the pulldown. In these assays, we observed that endogenous Rac1 was strongly activated within 5 min after replating, with peak Rac1 activation occurring within 30 minutes of replating. By 90 minutes Rac1 activation had returned to baseline (Figures 6A and 6B). Thus, these experiments demonstrate that replating MCF7 cells on collagen IV strongly induces endogenous Rac1 activity.



Figure 6. Replating MCF7 cells on collagen strongly activates endogenous Rac1. (A) Endogenous active Rac1 was pulled down from cell lysates with recombinant GST-PBD and analyzed by Western blotting using anti-Rac1 antibodies. The upper panel shows Rac1 bound to GST-PBD, the middle panel shows Rac1 in the lysate. GST-PBD in the pulldowns is shown in the lower panel. Shown is a representative experiment. (B) Quantification of Rac1 activation following replating on collagen IV. Shown is the average of three independent experiments. Significance was determined by Student's *t* test for non-paired values. * = p < 0.05.

We then examined whether replating cells on collagen would stimulate Net1A relocalization. MCF7 cells were transfected with an HA-Net1A expression vector, trypsinized, and replated on collagen. At different times, the cells were then fixed and stained for Net1A localization, DNA, and F-actin. As a positive control, adherent cells were co-transfected with V¹²Rac1. To more precisely measure HA-Net1A localization,

we quantified the fluorescent intensity of HA-Net1A in the nucleus and cytoplasm, and displayed the results as a ratio of cytoplasmic to nuclear Net1A (Cyto/Nuc). Typically, nuclear localization of HA-Net1A in MCF7 cells is indicated by a Cyto/Nuc ratio of about 0.8, and an increase in this ratio signifies increased localization of Net1A outside the nucleus. By this analysis we observed that HA-Net1A was mainly localized in the nucleus in adherent cells before trypsinization and replating, and quickly relocalized outside the nucleus upon replating. Peak relocalization of HA-Net1A was largely re-localized inside the nucleus (Figures 7A and 7B). Altogether, these data suggest that integrin engagement onto a collagen matrix stimulates Rac1 activation, which in turn stimulates Net1A relocalization outside the nucleus.



Figure 7. Relocalization of Net1A in cells spreading on collagen IV. (A) Cells were transfected with HA-Net1A and then replated on collagen IV coated coverslips. At different times, the cells were fixed and stained for HA-Net1A (green), DNA (blue), and F-actin (red). A representative experiment is shown.
(B) Quantification of HA-Net1A subcellular localization. Fluorescence intensity of HA-Net1A staining was analyzed using Image J software and is depicted as the ratio of intensities in the cytoplasm and nucleus (Cyto/Nuc). Shown is the average of three independent experiments. Significance was determined by Student's *t* test for non-paired values. * = p < 0.0001.

Rac1 controls Net1A relocalization during cell spreading

To determine the role of Rac1 on Net1A relocalization during cell spreading, we transfected MCF7 cells with control or Rac1-specific siRNAs. One day later, the cells were re-transfected with an HA-Net1A expression vector. Two days after that, the cells were trypsinized and replated on collagen coated coverslips. At different times the cells were fixed and stained for HA-Net1A localization, DNA, and F-actin. In these

experiments cells depleted of Rac1 exhibited a reduced rate of spreading, consistent with a pivotal role for Rac1 in early spreading events in other cell types (108, 111, 112). Importantly, we also observed that inhibition of Rac1 expression completely inhibited the relocalization of Net1A during cell spreading (Figures 8A and 8B). These data indicate that Rac1 expression is necessary for Net1A relocalization outside the nucleus in spreading cells.



Figure 8. Net1A relocalization during cell spreading requires Rac1 expression. (A) Cells were transfected with control or Rac1-specific siRNAs, and then two days later re-transfected with HA-Net1A expression vector. Two days after that, the cells were trypsinized and replated on collagen coated coverslips. At different times the cells were fixed and stained for HA-Net1A (green), DNA (blue), and F-actin (red). Shown is a representative experiment. (B) Quantification of HA-Net1A subcellular localization. The fluorescence intensity of HA-Net1A in the cytoplasm and nucleus was quantified. The average of three independent experiments is shown. Significance was determined by Student's *t* test for non-paired values. * = p < 0.05; ** = p < 0.0001. (C) Representative Western blot demonstrating knockdown of Rac1 expression.

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

Net1 activity towards RhoA is negatively regulated by nuclear localization (61, 87). However, stimuli causing the redistribution of Net1 isoforms outside the nucleus have not been published. In the present study, we have demonstrated that expression of constitutively active Rac1 stimulates Net1A re-localization to the plasma membrane and results in an up-regulation of Net1A activity. Interestingly, Net1 appears to maintain a high basal activity (Figure 4). Moreover, Rac1 activation is necessary for Net1A relocalization outside the nucleus during cell spreading on a collagen matrix. Thus, these data represent the first mechanism for regulating the subcellular distribution of Net1A, and demonstrate that the localization of Net1 isoforms is differentially regulated.

Little is known about mechanisms controlling the nuclear import and export of Net1A. Nuclear import and export are typically regulated by the small GTPase Ran, which controls import and export by chaperone proteins known as importins and exportins, respectively (98, 99). We hypothesize that Rac1 activation should alter Net1A localization either by negatively regulating Net1A-importin association, upregulating Net1A-exportin association, or a combination of the two mechanisms. Net1A contains two predicted NLS sequences in its amino-terminus (Figure 2). Others in the Frost Lab have shown that both of these NLS sequences contribute to the nuclear localization of Net1A, although the first NLS (NLS3) seems to be the more important of the two sequences (not shown). In this regard, the Frost lab has also observed that the importin α subunit, KPNA2, co-immunoprecipitates with Net1A (not In addition, KPNA2 mediates the nuclear import of Rac1 (123). shown). So conceivably, the first NLS (NLS3) of Net1A may bind to KPNA2 to mediate nuclear Net1A import. In this regard it would be important to show whether KPNA2 mediates

nuclear import of Net1A, and then to determine whether Rac1 activation alters KPNA2dependent Net1A nuclear import.

It would also be important to determine whether nuclear export mechanisms contribute to Rac1 mediated relocalization of Net1A. Previous work has shown that the PH domain of Net1A mediates CRM1 dependent nuclear export of the N-terminal truncation mutant, Net1ΔN, from the nucleus (61). However, others in the Frost Lab have observed that treatment of MCF7 cells with the CRM1 inhibitor, leptomycin B, does not block nuclear export stimulated by constitutively active Rac1 (not shown). Thus, if nuclear export of Net1A contributes to its Rac1 dependent re-localization, then one or more exportins other than CRM1 is likely to control this event. Further work is necessary to evaluate how Rac1 activation affects Net1A interaction with the relevant importin or exportin.

The mechanism by which Rac1 signals to cause Net1A relocalization is presently not known. Rac1 initiates intracellular signaling by stimulating the activation of a known set of effector proteins. Thus, identifying the Rac1 effector responsible for Net1A relocalization is important to understanding how Net1A localization and activity are controlled in breast cancer cells. There are approximately 30 effectors for Rho, Rac, and Cdc42 GTPases (32). However, since V¹²Rac1 is more effective than constitutively active Cdc42 at causing Net1A relocalization, and RhoA activation does not affect Net1A localization (not shown), we would expect that potential effectors should be preferentially be activated by Rac1.

Rac1-dependent effectors that may be responsible for relocalization of Net1A include the kinases MLK2 and 3, MEKK1 and 4, PAKs1-3, the phospholipase PLC- β 2, and the scaffolding proteins POSH, POR1, p140Sra-1, and IQGAP1-3 (82, 124-134). Although this list of effectors is long, the respective function of the possible Rac1

effectors can be utilized to identify likely candidates. For instance, the Rac1 effector p70 S6 kinase regulates mRNA translation (32, 135), so it is unlikely to control the ability of Net1A to affect actin cytoskeleton organization. In addition, the Frost lab has shown previously that the Rac1/Cdc42 effector PAK1 phosphorylates Net1 in response to Rac1 activation, which inhibits its ability to stimulate actin stress fiber formation (a RhoA phenotype) (96). As the PAK1 phosphorylation sites are adjacent to the second NLS (NLS4) in Net1A, it is possible that PAK1 mediates Rac1 effects on Net1A localization. Future work will be required to identify the Rac1 effector that controls Net1A localization.

Because we observed that V¹²Rac1 expression caused extranuclear localization of Net1A, we examined whether stimuli that promote endogenous Rac1 activation also impact Net1A localization. For these experiments, we focused on Rac1 activation stimulated by cellular adhesion, since this is known to require Rac1 at early times, followed by RhoA activation at later times (108). Importantly, we found that cell spreading dramatically stimulated the relocalization of Net1A outside the nucleus (Figure 7). Furthermore, we determined that Rac1 was activated by cell spreading in MCF7 cells, and that its expression was required for Net1A relocalization (Figures 5 and 8), Moreover, we also observed that the catalytically-inactive Net1A mutant, Net1A L267E, also relocalized outside the nucleus during cell spreading (not shown), suggesting that spreading induced Net1A subcellular redistribution independently of Net1A-stimulated RhoA activation. My preliminary data has also suggested that Net1A activity is enhanced during cellular spreading, peaking at 60 min following adhesion, and returning to basal activity by 90 min (not shown). Thus, the subcellular localization of Net1A is regulated by Rac1 during cell spreading, similar to what we

observed in cells transfected with V¹²Rac1. This indicates that our over-expression experiments are likely to reflect a physiologically relevant regulatory mechanism.

We then asked whether Net1A re-localization was important for cell spreading. Although the results are preliminary, we have observed that MCF7 cells transfected with siRNA targeting both Net1 isoforms exhibited a reduced rate of cell spreading in comparison to cells treated with control siRNA (not shown), suggesting that Net1A is important for efficient cell spreading. In this regard, the Rho GEFs, LARG, Lsc, and p190RhoGEF have been shown to contribute to cell spreading in fibroblasts plated on fibronectin and collagen (119, 120). In the future, it will be important to determine whether they also contribute to cell spreading in MCF7 breast cancer cells, and to investigate the relationship of Net1A to their function.

Not surprisingly, the kinetics of Rac1, Net1A, and RhoA activities during spreading in MCF7 cells fits with cellular spreading dogma; Rac1 is activated and RhoA is down-regulated during early spreading events, and in later spreading stages RhoA and Rac1 activities are reversed. For example, we observed that Rac1 is quickly activated by replating on collagen, reaching a peak by 30 min after replating (Figure 6). Moreover, the kinetics of Rac1 activation coincides with the rapid relocalization of Net1A outside the nucleus (Figure 7). Net1A relocalization and activity kinetics correlates with peak RhoA activity observed in various cell lines at 30 to 90 min of spreading on fibronectin and collagen (119, 120, 136, 137). However, RhoA activation in response to Rac1 stimulated Net1A redistribution in MCF7 cells has not yet been confirmed by our group.

Our data are consistent with the following model for Net1A regulation during cell spreading. We have observed that following adhesion to the ECM, cell spreading activates Rac1. Active Rac1 mediates a rapid increase in Net1A nuclear export, or

decreased nuclear import. By unknown mechanisms, extranuclear Net1A maximally translocates to the plasma membrane and becomes maximally activated. Concurrently, since V¹²Rac1 co-expression increases the half-life of Net1A (not shown), and interaction with the scaffolding protein Dlg1 has been reported to increase Net1A stability (76), relocalized Net1A may be stabilized by interaction with Dlg1, which typically localizes to the plasma membrane in epithelial cells. During the latter stages of cell spreading, Net1A continues to contribute to RhoA activation, leading to efficient focal adhesion and actin stress fiber formation. Our findings provide a physiological role for the Net1A isoform and suggest an added level of control to cellular spreading mechanisms, where not only does Rac1 activity antagonize RhoA activity following adhesion through Rho GAP activation, but also prepares for RhoA activation mediated by temporal and spatial activation of Rho GEFs such as Net1A.

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS

Breast cancer metastasis is the critical event leading to death in breast cancer patients. Understanding the mechanisms controlling metastatic progression of tumor cells is thus extremely important, yet this process is not well understood. It is known that activation of Rho family small G proteins, especially RhoA, contributes to breast cancer metastasis. However, there is little data showing how RhoA activation is regulated in breast cancer. Previous work from our lab indicates that Net1 isoforms specifically regulate RhoA activity. It has also been previously established that activity of Net1 isoforms are regulated by subcellular localization. Net1 isoforms are nuclear proteins and must be localized outside of the nucleus in order to activate RhoA. We have shown that Rac1 activating stimuli, specifically cellular anchorage to extracellular substrates, relocalize Net1A outside the nucleus in a Rac1 dependent manner and increase Net1A activity. These findings suggest that Net1A relocalization may be critical for efficient cellular spreading.

In future research efforts, it would be important to elucidate the mechanisms controlling nuclear import and export of Net1A using over-expression, coimmunoprecipitations, and RNAi approaches. How Rac1 stimulation alters the nuclear import and export dynamics of Net1A should also be studied. Ways that Rac1 may alter Net1A localization may be through increased Net1A export and/or decreased importin-Net1A association. This may occur through Rac1 stimulated post-translational modification of Net1A, or through altered protein binding to Net1A. Rac1 stimulates intracellular signaling by activating a known set of effector proteins. The Rac1 effector that mediates Net1A redistribution could also be identified using a combination of RNAi and over-expression methods. Furthermore, continued investigation into the role of Net1A in breast cancer cell spreading is necessary. It will

be interesting to verify if the mechanisms regulating Rac1-induced Net1A relocalization in MCF7 cells also contributes to cell spreading in metastatic breast cancer cells. Since cell spreading dynamics are thought to reflect similar mechanisms used in cell migration and ECM invasion, Rac1 may also regulate Net1A-dependent breast cancer cell migration and invasion. With this understanding of Net1A regulation, novel therapeutic targets can be developed for use in the diagnosis and treatment of breast cancer.

References

- Jonkers, J., and P. W. Derksen. 2007. Modeling metastatic breast cancer in mice. J. Mammary. Gland. Biol. Neoplasia. 12: 191-203.
- Cicek, M., and M. J. Oursler. 2006. Breast cancer bone metastasis and current small therapeutics. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 25: 635-644.
- James, C. R., J. E. Quinn, P. B. Mullan, P. G. Johnston, and D. P. Harkin. 2007. BRCA1, a potential predictive biomarker in the treatment of breast cancer. Oncologist. 12: 142-150.
- Mendelson, C. R., and D. B. Hardy. 2006. Role of the progesterone receptor (PR) in the regulation of inflammatory response pathways and aromatase in the breast. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 102: 241-249.
- Ciocca, D. R., F. E. Gago, M. A. Fanelli, and S. K. Calderwood. 2006. Coexpression of steroid receptors (estrogen receptor alpha and/or progesterone receptors) and Her-2/neu: Clinical implications. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 102: 32-40.
- Gupta, P. B., and C. Kuperwasser. 2006. Contributions of estrogen to ERnegative breast tumor growth. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 102: 71-78.
- Katzenellenbogen, B. S. 1996. Estrogen receptors: bioactivities and interactions with cell signaling pathways. Biol. Reprod. 54: 287-293.
- 8. Jordan, V. C. 2006. Tamoxifen (ICI46,474) as a targeted therapy to treat and prevent breast cancer. Br. J. Pharmacol. 147 Suppl 1: S269-S276.
- Olayioye, M. A. 2001. Update on HER-2 as a target for cancer therapy: intracellular signaling pathways of ErbB2/HER-2 and family members. Breast Cancer Res. 3: 385-389.

- 10. Bange, J., E. Zwick, and A. Ullrich. 2001. Molecular targets for breast cancer therapy and prevention. Nat. Med. 7: 548-552.
- Dunning, A. M., C. S. Healey, P. D. Pharoah, M. D. Teare, B. A. Ponder, and D.
 F. Easton. 1999. A systematic review of genetic polymorphisms and breast cancer risk. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 8: 843-854.
- 12. Roy, R., J. Chun, and S. N. Powell. 2012. BRCA1 and BRCA2: different roles in a common pathway of genome protection. Nat. Rev. Cancer 12: 68-78.
- Kennedy, R. D., J. E. Quinn, P. B. Mullan, P. G. Johnston, and D. P. Harkin.
 2004. The role of BRCA1 in the cellular response to chemotherapy. J. Natl.
 Cancer Inst. 96: 1659-1668.
- Hollstein, M., D. Sidransky, B. Vogelstein, and C. C. Harris. 1991. p53 mutations in human cancers. Science 253: 49-53.
- 15. Humbert, P., S. Russell, and H. Richardson. 2003. Dlg, Scribble and Lgl in cell polarity, cell proliferation and cancer. Bioessays 25: 542-553.
- Vincent-Salomon, A., and J. P. Thiery. 2003. Host microenvironment in breast cancer development: epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer development. Breast Cancer Res. 5: 101-106.
- Lelievre, S. A. 2010. Tissue polarity-dependent control of mammary epithelial homeostasis and cancer development: an epigenetic perspective. J. Mammary. Gland. Biol. Neoplasia. 15: 49-63.
- Brennan, K., G. Offiah, E. A. McSherry, and A. M. Hopkins. 2010. Tight junctions: a barrier to the initiation and progression of breast cancer? J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2010: 460607.
- Ebnet, K. 2008. Organization of multiprotein complexes at cell-cell junctions.
 Histochem. Cell Biol. 130: 1-20.

- Hartsock, A., and W. J. Nelson. 2008. Adherens and tight junctions: structure, function and connections to the actin cytoskeleton. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1778: 660-669.
- Taddei, I., M. M. Faraldo, J. Teuliere, M. A. Deugnier, J. P. Thiery, and M. A. Glukhova. 2003. Integrins in mammary gland development and differentiation of mammary epithelium. J. Mammary. Gland. Biol. Neoplasia. 8: 383-394.
- 22. Pontier, S. M., and W. J. Muller. 2008. Integrins in breast cancer dormancy. APMIS 116: 677-684.
- Pontier, S. M., and W. J. Muller. 2009. Integrins in mammary-stem-cell biology and breast-cancer progression--a role in cancer stem cells? J. Cell Sci. 122: 207-214.
- 24. Wewer, U. M., L. M. Shaw, R. Albrechtsen, and A. M. Mercurio. 1997. The integrin alpha 6 beta 1 promotes the survival of metastatic human breast carcinoma cells in mice. Am. J. Pathol. 151: 1191-1198.
- Morini, M., M. Mottolese, N. Ferrari, F. Ghiorzo, S. Buglioni, R. Mortarini, D. M. Noonan, P. G. Natali, and A. Albini. 2000. The alpha 3 beta 1 integrin is associated with mammary carcinoma cell metastasis, invasion, and gelatinase B (MMP-9) activity. Int. J. Cancer 87: 336-342.
- Rolli, M., E. Fransvea, J. Pilch, A. Saven, and B. Felding-Habermann. 2003. Activated integrin alphavbeta3 cooperates with metalloproteinase MMP-9 in regulating migration of metastatic breast cancer cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 100: 9482-9487.
- Jaffe, A. B., and A. Hall. 2005. Rho GTPases: biochemistry and biology. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 21: 247-269.

- Etienne-Manneville, S., and A. Hall. 2002. Rho GTPases in cell biology. Nature 420: 629-635.
- Jaffe, A. B., and A. Hall. 2002. Rho GTPases in transformation and metastasis.
 Adv. Cancer Res. 84: 57-80.
- 30. Pruitt, K., and C. J. Der. 2001. Ras and Rho regulation of the cell cycle and oncogenesis. Cancer Lett. 171: 1-10.
- 31. Symons, M., and N. Rusk. 2003. Control of vesicular trafficking by Rho GTPases. Curr. Biol. 13: R409-R418.
- Bishop, A. L., and A. Hall. 2000. Rho GTPases and their effector proteins.
 Biochem. J. 348 Pt 2: 241-255.
- Schmidt, A., and A. Hall. 2002. Guanine nucleotide exchange factors for Rho GTPases: turning on the switch. Genes Dev. 16: 1587-1609.
- 34. Bernards, A. 2003. GAPs galore! A survey of putative Ras superfamily GTPase activating proteins in man and Drosophila. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1603: 47-82.
- Olofsson, B. 1999. Rho guanine dissociation inhibitors: pivotal molecules in cellular signalling. Cell Signal. 11: 545-554.
- 36. Zondag, G. C., E. E. Evers, J. P. ten Klooster, L. Janssen, R. A. van der Kammen, and J. G. Collard. 2000. Oncogenic Ras downregulates Rac activity, which leads to increased Rho activity and epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J. Cell Biol. 149: 775-782.
- 37. Schmitz, A. A., E. E. Govek, B. Bottner, and A. L. Van. 2000. Rho GTPases: signaling, migration, and invasion. Exp. Cell Res. 261: 1-12.
- Raftopoulou, M., and A. Hall. 2004. Cell migration: Rho GTPases lead the way.
 Dev. Biol. 265: 23-32.

- Lin, M., and K. L. van Golen. 2004. Rho-regulatory proteins in breast cancer cell motility and invasion. Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 84: 49-60.
- 40. Fritz, G., I. Just, and B. Kaina. 1999. Rho GTPases are over-expressed in human tumors. Int. J. Cancer 81: 682-687.
- 41. Fritz, G., C. Brachetti, F. Bahlmann, M. Schmidt, and B. Kaina. 2002. Rho GTPases in human breast tumours: expression and mutation analyses and correlation with clinical parameters. Br. J. Cancer 87: 635-644.
- 42. Kamai, T., S. Kawakami, F. Koga, G. Arai, K. Takagi, K. Arai, T. Tsujii, and K. I. Yoshida. 2003. RhoA is associated with invasion and lymph node metastasis in upper urinary tract cancer. BJU. Int. 91: 234-238.
- 43. Kleer, C. G., K. L. van Golen, Y. Zhang, Z. F. Wu, M. A. Rubin, and S. D. Merajver. 2002. Characterization of RhoC expression in benign and malignant breast disease: a potential new marker for small breast carcinomas with metastatic ability. Am. J. Pathol. 160: 579-584.
- Jiang, W. G., G. Watkins, J. Lane, G. H. Cunnick, A. Douglas-Jones, K. Mokbel, and R. E. Mansel. 2003. Prognostic value of rho GTPases and rho guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitors in human breast cancers. Clin. Cancer Res. 9: 6432-6440.
- Rossman, K. L., C. J. Der, and J. Sondek. 2005. GEF means go: turning on RHO GTPases with guanine nucleotide-exchange factors. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 6: 167-180.
- Tcherkezian, J., and N. Lamarche-Vane. 2007. Current knowledge of the large RhoGAP family of proteins. Biol. Cell 99: 67-86.

- 47. Yang, J., Z. Zhang, S. M. Roe, C. J. Marshall, and D. Barford. 2009. Activation of Rho GTPases by DOCK exchange factors is mediated by a nucleotide sensor. Science 325: 1398-1402.
- 48. Hoffman, G. R., and R. A. Cerione. 2002. Signaling to the Rho GTPases: networking with the DH domain. FEBS Lett. 513: 85-91 PM:11911885.
- 49. Zheng, Y. 2001. Dbl family guanine nucleotide exchange factors. Trends Biochem. Sci. 26: 724-732.
- Fuentes, E. J., A. E. Karnoub, M. A. Booden, C. J. Der, and S. L. Campbell.
 2003. Critical role of the pleckstrin homology domain in Dbs signaling and growth regulation. J. Biol. Chem. 278: 21188-21196.
- 51. Whitehead, I., H. Kirk, C. Tognon, G. Trigo-Gonzalez, and R. Kay. 1995. Expression cloning of lfc, a novel oncogene with structural similarities to guanine nucleotide exchange factors and to the regulatory region of protein kinase C. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 18388-18395.
- Zheng, Y., M. F. Olson, A. Hall, R. A. Cerione, and D. Toksoz. 1995. Direct involvement of the small GTP-binding protein Rho in lbc oncogene function. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 9031-9034.
- Whitehead, I. P., Q. T. Lambert, J. A. Glaven, K. Abe, K. L. Rossman, G. M. Mahon, J. M. Trzaskos, R. Kay, S. L. Campbell, and C. J. Der. 1999.
 Dependence of Dbl and Dbs transformation on MEK and NF-kappaB activation.
 Mol. Cell Biol. 19: 7759-7770.
- 54. Cerione, R. A., and Y. Zheng. 1996. The Dbl family of oncogenes. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 8: 216-222.
- 55. Whitehead, I. P., S. Campbell, K. L. Rossman, and C. J. Der. 1997. Dbl family proteins. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1332: F1-23.

- Stam, J. C., and J. G. Collard. 1999. The DH protein family, exchange factors for Rho-like GTPases. Prog. Mol. Subcell. Biol. 22: 51-83.
- Engers, R., T. P. Zwaka, L. Gohr, A. Weber, C. D. Gerharz, and H. E. Gabbert.
 2000. Tiam1 mutations in human renal-cell carcinomas. Int. J. Cancer 88: 369-376.
- Kourlas, P. J., M. P. Strout, B. Becknell, M. L. Veronese, C. M. Croce, K. S. Theil, R. Krahe, T. Ruutu, S. Knuutila, C. D. Bloomfield, and M. A. Caligiuri. 2000. Identification of a gene at 11q23 encoding a guanine nucleotide exchange factor: evidence for its fusion with MLL in acute myeloid leukemia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 97: 2145-2150.
- Dutertre, M., L. Gratadou, E. Dardenne, S. Germann, S. Samaan, R. Lidereau,
 K. Driouch, P. de la Grange, and D. Auboeuf. 2010. Estrogen regulation and physiopathologic significance of alternative promoters in breast cancer. Cancer Res. 70: 3760-3770.
- Alberts, A. S., and R. Treisman. 1998. Activation of RhoA and SAPK/JNK signalling pathways by the RhoA-specific exchange factor mNET1. EMBO J. 17: 4075-4085.
- Schmidt, A., and A. Hall. 2002. The Rho exchange factor Net1 is regulated by nuclear sequestration. J. Biol. Chem. 277: 14581-14588.
- Garcia-Mata, R., and K. Burridge. 2007. Catching a GEF by its tail. Trends Cell Biol. 17: 36-43.
- Michiels, F., G. G. Habets, J. C. Stam, R. A. van der Kammen, and J. G. Collard. 1995. A role for Rac in Tiam1-induced membrane ruffling and invasion. Nature 375: 338-340.

- Arthur, W. T., S. M. Ellerbroek, C. J. Der, K. Burridge, and K. Wennerberg.
 2002. XPLN, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for RhoA and RhoB, but not RhoC. J. Biol. Chem. 277: 42964-42972.
- Crespo, P., K. E. Schuebel, A. A. Ostrom, J. S. Gutkind, and X. R. Bustelo.
 1997. Phosphotyrosine-dependent activation of Rac-1 GDP/GTP exchange by the vav proto-oncogene product. Nature 385: 169-172.
- Han, J., B. Das, W. Wei, A. L. Van, R. D. Mosteller, R. Khosravi-Far, J. K. Westwick, C. J. Der, and D. Broek. 1997. Lck regulates Vav activation of members of the Rho family of GTPases. Mol. Cell Biol. 17: 1346-1353.
- Kato, J., Y. Kaziro, and T. Satoh. 2000. Activation of the guanine nucleotide exchange factor Dbl following ACK1-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 268: 141-147.
- Miyamoto, Y., J. Yamauchi, and H. Itoh. 2003. Src kinase regulates the activation of a novel FGD-1-related Cdc42 guanine nucleotide exchange factor in the signaling pathway from the endothelin A receptor to JNK. J. Biol. Chem. 278: 29890-29900.
- Fleming, I. N., C. M. Elliott, F. G. Buchanan, C. P. Downes, and J. H. Exton.
 1999. Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II regulates Tiam1 by reversible protein phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 12753-12758.
- 70. Tatsumoto, T., X. Xie, R. Blumenthal, I. Okamoto, and T. Miki. 1999. Human ECT2 is an exchange factor for Rho GTPases, phosphorylated in G2/M phases, and involved in cytokinesis. J. Cell Biol. 147: 921-928.
- Han, J., K. Luby-Phelps, B. Das, X. Shu, Y. Xia, R. D. Mosteller, U. M. Krishna,
 J. R. Falck, M. A. White, and D. Broek. 1998. Role of substrates and products

of PI 3-kinase in regulating activation of Rac-related guanosine triphosphatases by Vav. Science 279: 558-560.

- 72. Ding, F., Z. Yin, and H. R. Wang. 2011. Ubiquitination in Rho signaling. Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 11: 2879-2887.
- Liot, C., L. Seguin, A. Siret, C. Crouin, S. Schmidt, and J. Bertoglio. 2011. APC(cdh1) mediates degradation of the oncogenic Rho-GEF Ect2 after mitosis. PLoS. One. 6: e23676.
- Kamynina, E., K. Kauppinen, F. Duan, N. Muakkassa, and D. Manor. 2007. Regulation of proto-oncogenic dbl by chaperone-controlled, ubiquitin-mediated degradation. Mol. Cell Biol. 27: 1809-1822.
- 75. Yamaguchi, K., O. Ohara, A. Ando, and T. Nagase. 2008. Smurf1 directly targets hPEM-2, a GEF for Cdc42, via a novel combination of protein interaction modules in the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. Biol. Chem. 389: 405-413.
- 76. Carr, H. S., C. Cai, K. Keinanen, and J. A. Frost. 2009. Interaction of the RhoA exchange factor Net1 with discs large homolog 1 protects it from proteasome-mediated degradation and potentiates Net1 activity. J. Biol. Chem. 284: 24269-24280.
- Penzes, P., R. C. Johnson, R. Sattler, X. Zhang, R. L. Huganir, V. Kambampati,
 R. E. Mains, and B. A. Eipper. 2001. The neuronal Rho-GEF Kalirin-7 interacts
 with PDZ domain-containing proteins and regulates dendritic morphogenesis.
 Neuron 29: 229-242.
- 78. Audebert, S., C. Navarro, C. Nourry, S. Chasserot-Golaz, P. Lecine, Y. Bellaiche, J. L. Dupont, R. T. Premont, C. Sempere, J. M. Strub, D. A. Van, N. Vitale, and J. P. Borg. 2004. Mammalian Scribble forms a tight complex with the betaPIX exchange factor. Curr. Biol. 14: 987-995.

- 79. Park, E., M. Na, J. Choi, S. Kim, J. R. Lee, J. Yoon, D. Park, M. Sheng, and E. Kim. 2003. The Shank family of postsynaptic density proteins interacts with and promotes synaptic accumulation of the beta PIX guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Rac1 and Cdc42. J. Biol. Chem. 278: 19220-19229.
- Liu, M., and A. Horowitz. 2006. A PDZ-binding motif as a critical determinant of Rho guanine exchange factor function and cell phenotype. Mol. Biol. Cell 17: 1880-1887.
- Garcia-Mata, R., A. D. Dubash, L. Sharek, H. S. Carr, J. A. Frost, and K. Burridge. 2007. The nuclear RhoA exchange factor Net1 interacts with proteins of the Dlg family, affects their localization, and influences their tumor suppressor activity. Mol. Cell Biol. 27: 8683-8697.
- Kobayashi, K., S. Kuroda, M. Fukata, T. Nakamura, T. Nagase, N. Nomura, Y. Matsuura, N. Yoshida-Kubomura, A. Iwamatsu, and K. Kaibuchi. 1998. p140Sra-1 (specifically Rac1-associated protein) is a novel specific target for Rac1 small GTPase. J. Biol. Chem. 273: 291-295.
- Chan, A. M., S. Takai, K. Yamada, and T. Miki. 1996. Isolation of a novel oncogene, NET1, from neuroepithelioma cells by expression cDNA cloning. Oncogene 12: 1259-1266.
- 84. Shen, X., J. Li, P. P. Hu, D. Waddell, J. Zhang, and X. F. Wang. 2001. The activity of guanine exchange factor NET1 is essential for transforming growth factor-beta-mediated stress fiber formation. J. Biol. Chem. 276: 15362-15368.
- 85. Dobrosotskaya, I. Y. 2001. Identification of mNET1 as a candidate ligand for the first PDZ domain of MAGI-1. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 283: 969-975.
- 86. Fabre, S., C. Reynaud, and P. Jalinot. 2000. Identification of functional PDZ domain binding sites in several human proteins. Mol. Biol. Rep. 27: 217-224.

- Qin, H., H. S. Carr, X. Wu, D. Muallem, N. H. Tran, and J. A. Frost. 2005.
 Characterization of the biochemical and transforming properties of the neuroepithelial transforming protein 1. J. Biol. Chem. 280: 7603-7613.
- Bennett, G., D. Sadlier, P. P. Doran, P. Macmathuna, and D. W. Murray. 2011.
 A functional and transcriptomic analysis of NET1 bioactivity in gastric cancer.
 BMC. Cancer 11: 50.
- Gilcrease, M. Z., S. K. Kilpatrick, W. A. Woodward, X. Zhou, M. M. Nicolas, L. J. Corley, G. N. Fuller, S. L. Tucker, L. K. Diaz, T. A. Buchholz, and J. A. Frost. 2009. Coexpression of alpha6beta4 integrin and guanine nucleotide exchange factor Net1 identifies node-positive breast cancer patients at high risk for distant metastasis. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 18: 80-86.
- Frisan, T., X. Cortes-Bratti, E. Chaves-Olarte, B. Stenerlow, and M. Thelestam.
 2003. The Haemophilus ducreyi cytolethal distending toxin induces DNA double-strand breaks and promotes ATM-dependent activation of RhoA. Cell Microbiol. 5: 695-707.
- 91. Dubash, A. D., C. Guilluy, M. C. Srougi, E. Boulter, K. Burridge, and R. Garcia-Mata. 2011. The small GTPase RhoA localizes to the nucleus and is activated by Net1 and DNA damage signals. PLoS. One. 6: e17380.
- 92. Guerra, L., H. S. Carr, A. Richter-Dahlfors, M. G. Masucci, M. Thelestam, J. A. Frost, and T. Frisan. 2008. A bacterial cytotoxin identifies the RhoA exchange factor Net1 as a key effector in the response to DNA damage. PLoS. One. 3: e2254.
- Srougi, M. C., and K. Burridge. 2011. The nuclear guanine nucleotide exchange factors Ect2 and Net1 regulate RhoB-mediated cell death after DNA damage.
 PLoS. One. 6: e17108.

- 94. Papadimitriou, E., E. Vasilaki, C. Vorvis, D. Iliopoulos, A. Moustakas, D. Kardassis, and C. Stournaras. 2011. Differential regulation of the two RhoA-specific GEF isoforms Net1/Net1A by TGF-beta and miR-24: role in epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. Oncogene .
- Jaffe, A. B., A. Hall, and A. Schmidt. 2005. Association of CNK1 with Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factors controls signaling specificity downstream of Rho. Curr. Biol. 15: 405-412.
- Alberts, A. S., H. Qin, H. S. Carr, and J. A. Frost. 2005. PAK1 negatively regulates the activity of the Rho exchange factor NET1. J. Biol. Chem. 280: 12152-12161.
- Gorlich, D., S. Prehn, R. A. Laskey, and E. Hartmann. 1994. Isolation of a protein that is essential for the first step of nuclear protein import. Cell 79: 767-778.
- 98. Mattaj, I. W., and L. Englmeier. 1998. Nucleocytoplasmic transport: the soluble phase. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 67: 265-306.
- Lange, A., R. E. Mills, C. J. Lange, M. Stewart, S. E. Devine, and A. H. Corbett.
 2007. Classical nuclear localization signals: definition, function, and interaction with importin alpha. J. Biol. Chem. 282: 5101-5105.
- 100. lozzo, R. V. 1998. Matrix proteoglycans: from molecular design to cellular function. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 67: 609-652.
- 101. Karsenty, G., and R. W. Park. 1995. Regulation of type I collagen genes expression. Int. Rev. Immunol. 12: 177-185.
- 102. Hynes, R. O. 2009. The extracellular matrix: not just pretty fibrils. Science 326: 1216-1219.

- 103. Hynes, R. O. 2002. Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. Cell 110: 673-687.
- 104. Khoshnoodi, J., V. Pedchenko, and B. G. Hudson. 2008. Mammalian collagen IV. Microsc. Res. Tech. 71: 357-370.
- 105. Kern, A., J. Eble, R. Golbik, and K. Kuhn. 1993. Interaction of type IV collagen with the isolated integrins alpha 1 beta 1 and alpha 2 beta 1. Eur. J. Biochem. 215: 151-159.
- 106. Tulla, M., O. T. Pentikainen, T. Viitasalo, J. Kapyla, U. Impola, P. Nykvist, L. Nissinen, M. S. Johnson, and J. Heino. 2001. Selective binding of collagen subtypes by integrin alpha 1I, alpha 2I, and alpha 10I domains. J. Biol. Chem. 276: 48206-48212.
- 107. Calderwood, D. A. 2004. Integrin activation. J. Cell Sci. 117: 657-666.
- 108. Huveneers, S., and E. H. Danen. 2009. Adhesion signaling crosstalk between integrins, Src and Rho. J. Cell Sci. 122: 1059-1069.
- 109. Mitra, S. K., and D. D. Schlaepfer. 2006. Integrin-regulated FAK-Src signaling in normal and cancer cells. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 18: 516-523.
- 110. Chodniewicz, D., and R. L. Klemke. 2004. Regulation of integrin-mediated cellular responses through assembly of a CAS/Crk scaffold. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1692: 63-76.
- 111. ten Klooster, J. P., Z. M. Jaffer, J. Chernoff, and P. L. Hordijk. 2006. Targeting and activation of Rac1 are mediated by the exchange factor beta-Pix. J. Cell Biol. 172: 759-769.
- 112. Brugnera, E., L. Haney, C. Grimsley, M. Lu, S. F. Walk, A. C. Tosello-Trampont,I. G. Macara, H. Madhani, G. R. Fink, and K. S. Ravichandran. 2002.

Unconventional Rac-GEF activity is mediated through the Dock180-ELMO complex. Nat. Cell Biol. 4: 574-582.

- 113. Ren, X. D., W. B. Kiosses, and M. A. Schwartz. 1999. Regulation of the small GTP-binding protein Rho by cell adhesion and the cytoskeleton. EMBO J. 18: 578-585.
- 114. Parsons, J. T., A. R. Horwitz, and M. A. Schwartz. 2010. Cell adhesion: integrating cytoskeletal dynamics and cellular tension. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 11: 633-643.
- 115. Arthur, W. T., and K. Burridge. 2001. RhoA inactivation by p190RhoGAP regulates cell spreading and migration by promoting membrane protrusion and polarity. Mol. Biol. Cell 12: 2711-2720.
- 116. Nimnual, A. S., L. J. Taylor, and D. Bar-Sagi. 2003. Redox-dependent downregulation of Rho by Rac. Nat. Cell Biol. 5: 236-241.
- 117. Ohta, Y., J. H. Hartwig, and T. P. Stossel. 2006. FilGAP, a Rho- and ROCKregulated GAP for Rac binds filamin A to control actin remodelling. Nat. Cell Biol. 8: 803-814.
- 118. Morgan, M. R., M. J. Humphries, and M. D. Bass. 2007. Synergistic control of cell adhesion by integrins and syndecans. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 8: 957-969.
- 119. Dubash, A. D., K. Wennerberg, R. Garcia-Mata, M. M. Menold, W. T. Arthur, and K. Burridge. 2007. A novel role for Lsc/p115 RhoGEF and LARG in regulating RhoA activity downstream of adhesion to fibronectin. J. Cell Sci. 120: 3989-3998.
- Lim, Y., S. T. Lim, A. Tomar, M. Gardel, J. A. Bernard-Trifilo, X. L. Chen, S. A. Uryu, R. Canete-Soler, J. Zhai, H. Lin, W. W. Schlaepfer, P. Nalbant, G. Bokoch, D. Ilic, C. Waterman-Storer, and D. D. Schlaepfer. 2008. PyK2 and

FAK connections to p190Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor regulate RhoA activity, focal adhesion formation, and cell motility. J. Cell Biol. 180: 187-203.

- 121. Garcia-Mata, R., K. Wennerberg, W. T. Arthur, N. K. Noren, S. M. Ellerbroek, and K. Burridge. 2006. Analysis of activated GAPs and GEFs in cell lysates. Methods Enzymol. 406: 425-437.
- 122. Benard, V., and G. M. Bokoch. 2002. Assay of Cdc42, Rac, and Rho GTPase activation by affinity methods. Methods Enzymol. 345: 349-359.
- 123. Sandrock, K., H. Bielek, K. Schradi, G. Schmidt, and N. Klugbauer. 2010. The nuclear import of the small GTPase Rac1 is mediated by the direct interaction with karyopherin alpha2. Traffic. 11: 198-209.
- 124. Tapon, N., K. Nagata, N. Lamarche, and A. Hall. 1998. A new rac target POSH is an SH3-containing scaffold protein involved in the JNK and NF-kappaB signalling pathways. EMBO J. 17: 1395-1404.
- 125. Nagata, K., A. Puls, C. Futter, P. Aspenstrom, E. Schaefer, T. Nakata, N. Hirokawa, and A. Hall. 1998. The MAP kinase kinase kinase MLK2 co-localizes with activated JNK along microtubules and associates with kinesin superfamily motor KIF3. EMBO J. 17: 149-158.
- 126. Teramoto, H., O. A. Coso, H. Miyata, T. Igishi, T. Miki, and J. S. Gutkind. 1996. Signaling from the small GTP-binding proteins Rac1 and Cdc42 to the c-Jun Nterminal kinase/stress-activated protein kinase pathway. A role for mixed lineage kinase 3/protein-tyrosine kinase 1, a novel member of the mixed lineage kinase family. J. Biol. Chem. 271: 27225-27228.

- 127. Fanger, G. R., N. L. Johnson, and G. L. Johnson. 1997. MEK kinases are regulated by EGF and selectively interact with Rac/Cdc42. EMBO J. 16: 4961-4972.
- 128. Bagrodia, S., and R. A. Cerione. 1999. Pak to the future. Trends Cell Biol. 9: 350-355.
- 129. Illenberger, D., F. Schwald, D. Pimmer, W. Binder, G. Maier, A. Dietrich, and P. Gierschik. 1998. Stimulation of phospholipase C-beta2 by the Rho GTPases Cdc42Hs and Rac1. EMBO J. 17: 6241-6249.
- 130. Van, A. L., T. Joneson, and D. Bar-Sagi. 1996. Identification of a novel Rac1interacting protein involved in membrane ruffling. EMBO J. 15: 3778-3786.
- Kaibuchi, K., S. Kuroda, M. Fukata, and M. Nakagawa. 1999. Regulation of cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion by the Rho family GTPases. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 11: 591-596.
- 132. Rohatgi, R., L. Ma, H. Miki, M. Lopez, T. Kirchhausen, T. Takenawa, and M. W. Kirschner. 1999. The interaction between N-WASP and the Arp2/3 complex links Cdc42-dependent signals to actin assembly. Cell 97: 221-231.
- 133. Joyal, J. L., R. S. Annan, Y. D. Ho, M. E. Huddleston, S. A. Carr, M. J. Hart, and D. B. Sacks. 1997. Calmodulin modulates the interaction between IQGAP1 and Cdc42. Identification of IQGAP1 by nanoelectrospray tandem mass spectrometry. J. Biol. Chem. 272: 15419-15425.
- 134. Fukata, M., S. Kuroda, K. Fujii, T. Nakamura, I. Shoji, Y. Matsuura, K. Okawa,A. Iwamatsu, A. Kikuchi, and K. Kaibuchi. 1997. Regulation of cross-linking of actin filament by IQGAP1, a target for Cdc42. J. Biol. Chem. 272: 29579-29583.
- 135. Chou, M. M., and J. Blenis. 1996. The 70 kDa S6 kinase complexes with and is activated by the Rho family G proteins Cdc42 and Rac1. Cell 85: 573-583.

- 136. Garcia, M. C., D. M. Ray, B. Lackford, M. Rubino, K. Olden, and J. D. Roberts. 2009. Arachidonic acid stimulates cell adhesion through a novel p38 MAPK-RhoA signaling pathway that involves heat shock protein 27. J. Biol. Chem. 284: 20936-20945.
- 137. Masiero, L., K. A. Lapidos, I. Ambudkar, and E. C. Kohn. 1999. Regulation of the RhoA pathway in human endothelial cell spreading on type IV collagen: role of calcium influx. J. Cell Sci. 112 (Pt 19): 3205-3213.

Vita

Christopher Anthony Morris was born in Kerrville, Texas on June 22, 1987, the Son of Veronikia Denise Lee. After completing his work at Bellaire Senior High School, Bellaire, Texas in 2004, he entered Trinity University in San Antonio, Texas. He received the degree of Bachelor of Arts with a major in chemistry from Trinity in May, 2008. In September of 2008, he entered The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences.

Cellular: (713)-480-5117

Email: camorris687@gmail.com